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This interview tgook place Jume 3, 1988 at the home of Captain
Ralgh Williams, Falls Chuzch, Virginia. The interviewee ia
Captain Ralph Williams, speechuriter for President Eisenhower.
The interviewer is James Leyerzapi of the Eisenhower Librarcy.
CAPTAIN WILLIAME: We weres thinking in teem= of a State of the
Union addressz, and as the weeks wore con it began te look as though
the State of the Union address was goling ke be soert of a lame
duck effert in any event, so at some peint in this bwse months'
procedure we switched over and., indeed, wrote the State of LEhs
Union message which the president just senk up to Congréess as
a document--he didn't appear there htoe read it eor anything.
Then, with what wasa left aver we began. to put tegekher this
farewell measage--and I den't really knew at what paint Ehe
tate of the Union effort yislded up the farewell message.
I don't know where the idea of a farewszll message even came
from, but the next thing we knew we were engaged in that effort

in addition to the State of the Union.

BR. LEYERZAPF: I sea. Mac Moos says in his interview, and I
brought a segment of it aleng, that the Idea originated with
Eisenhower-—-nobk that he used the teorm "farewell address"-—-but a
covple of years beforehand had teld him te be thinking about
something; he wanted to leave something for the American people
to remember. According to Moos' =story it was about as vagus asz
that. On the other hand, dne of the histsriana who' Haa written
en Bisenhower claims that the idea was planted directly in

Eisenhower's mind by Horman Cousins of the Saturday Rewxiew. Can

¥you corroborate or commehkt on either of those storips?
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WILLIAMS: Noy I surely can't. It coald very well be that
Cousina had some input te that because he did make ssveral
propesals: for inclusion in the president's spescheg==vhetbher
cthey were accepted o not=-and Ehiz could very well have bgan
zomething that Worman Cousins decided kthat the president should
do, and the president could very well have picked up' on it.

The ea;lier thing may have just laid dormant in his own dustbin

for thak length of time and maybe Cousines Jjust resurrected 1E-—

I don't znow.

LEYEREAPF: I see. MNow, Cousins had an impact on speechmaking?

Here thege golicited ar unsalicited commanba?

WILLIAME: For the most park, unsolicited. &As a matber of

fack, I suppose it was all unsolicited bercause we never solicikted
anything from anybody outside the Executive Branch. TI've always
maintained that there's only ons other profession in the world
that has as much competiticn from amatetirs as presidential =pesech-
welbing. Everybody has some contribution to make to the
prosident's speeches,; and these things come pouring in on you

from all directions all the Lime. EBEvery once in 2 while w& got
something that was worth including, but most of Ebe btime it was

just waber ower the dam.

LEYERZAPF: You don'k recall cases of Cousins' meebing with the

president formally to discusa some speech or Lopic?
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WILLIAME: -No, I don't. The only time that I can cfemember
somecne ceming in from the cutside and directly having a majer
input into one of the president's speeches was Chuck Perey.

who came in just aboutbt Chrizimas Eime in 19253, He had not even
‘entersed politics at that time; he was still president of Bell &
Howell. He socrt of £itbted the model of whalt the president most
adéireﬂ in pecple: this poor boy from kthe country whe had gone
to the big city and made a smashing succesa of himself in the
business world. So Chuck Percy came in--and I guess he
actually stayed at the White Houss a couple of nighks——and at
some point in there he gat the president's ear and said, "What
we need now is to include in the State of the Union message a
declaration of goals for the Awmerican people." Another segment,
which was zeparate, was & declarabion of .goals for the Republican
party. The president apparently bought the idea, and he sent
Percy down ko seé Meos and me. Over the course of bthe pnext

day ©r 20 we gobt Percy's input on the goals message, and 1t

was to be eranked into tEhe State of the Union message. When

we gok it done, it kind of looksd like a cross between an
alligator and a turtle--but Ehece it was in the spsech. OF
course, what you do, when you announce something like that, you
nave to £find a committee land a chairman with scme =bature

and reputation) to take it on and fTermulate the content of an
action program. The president had a terrible time finding

anybody who would have anykhing te do with it. EBvery press
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conference for zbouk six months, somebody would gek up ‘and bug
him about when he was going ko get something started on the goals
program. In fact, it wasn't until February of 1%60 that he
finally got Walter Wriston te Eake on the Chairman'e job,

and the Commission game up with its report the £ollowing July,
just about the time when the election campalgn waa pushing
everything else into the background. 2o far as I know; the

Goala Repork sbill languishes somewhere 1n the White Houss
archives without ever having enythlny done about it, and probably
jwat as well. But enly conce in a bluae moen 21d anything from

the cutgide come in and actually get included in the president's

speaches,

LEYEREAPE: I saa, At this poink--I hate bto break a train of
thought—-but I'd like ke go back and pick up a little bit about
you, for the redord. HNow: I may ask you some guestions that
have been answered in your correspondence with us or in the copy
af the guestionnaire you £illed out for Mr. Haney, but if I do

it's because wa'd like the continuiby--

WILLIAMS: Youw juskt want it for the rscord.

LEYERZAPF: =-and have the whole Ehing on tape for .a recoed.

So, if you'll tell wvs aboui your background and education?

RILLIAMS: ¥esa, well, I was boern in Pecos, Texas in 1917. i

want to high school there and I went on to tha University of
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Texas in Auatin. I graduated. from thers in 1938. I worked at
hoeme around Pecos for aboub bthrea veara until it became evidenkt
that we wera going to get into World War II. I made some serious
sfforta to beat the drafb into Che navy, which I was sucocesaful
in deing. 33 I jeined the navy in-—I gueszs it vwas June 194]l==
when I was directly commissioned as an ensiagn in the naval ceserve.
They sent us. to what they call "officer boot echool", which

means that vou get paid a little kit better than you would if

you were 2 seaman but the indiginities are aboukb the same. This
wasd at the Harvard Businsss School in Boston where the Busineas
sSchool was on vacation for the pummer. We used the Business
Echool facilities for our training for the Navy Supply Corps.
Then I wazs shipped out to Pearl Harbor in September 1341, and--
typical of the kind of luzk that I have--they couldn't get me

out there by navy transportaticon as rapidly as they wanted, so

they gave me a ticket on the 55 Lurline--the guesn of the Matson

flegt=—at a tima, I think, when every socretary in -S5an Francleco
was taking her vacation. 8o it was a "pitch 'till you won'*
propositicn for fiwve dayvs and I theught, my Lecd; 1f thia is

the way things are in the pavy where do I =ign up for a permanent
commission? I landed in Pearl}l Harvbor in September of 1241 and

I wazs there for the big dhow on Decembese the Tth. I staved there
unkil poazibly May, I gquesa,; of 1243, 1 was sent Dack Lo the
United States and immediately turned around and was gsent back

aut into the Pacifiec tn ftime for the invasion of Tarawa. I was
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on the beach at Tarawa for about two or three months before they
took pity on me and s=ent me back to Philadelphia. This is whers
I met my wife and got married and started a family. T finished
Elke war in Philadelphia; in fack. TFrom there we had a bour

of duty in Bayonne, Wew Jersey, and then we were in Guam for

a year and a half, and then fram therse back te the Naval War
Collsge abt Mewpork for threse and a half years. I had a ship

cuk of Hewport for another year and a half and then came horo
for duty in the Penktagen in late 1952, which I thought was

geing o be the end of my career but which turned ouft to be the
salvation of it because I wasz here only a couple of months when
I gok myaelf a job as a speechwriter fovr Roberh Andegson, who,

ak thar point, was the new Secretary of the Havy.
LEYEREZAPF: This would have baen vour flrst speechwriting Jjob?

WILLIAME: Yes, my exXperience at the Nawval War Cellege greatly
expanded my horizens and I discovered that I could write things
that people would vead. Among my efforts were essays in the
contests that were held annually by bBhe U0.5. Hawval Institute,
which ia the preofesaienal sducaticnal institute for naval
officera. Every year the Institute holds a contest——an essay
contest--and anybedy can enter. If you won you got $1,500, so
at my wife's strong urging I entered the conteést. The first
Eime I entered I came in second and a couple of years later I

began to win. I won every Lime I entered from thece on cut and,
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in conseguence, I got a reputation az scmething of a minor
prophet among naval officers. So when the Chief of Nawval
Information was despeérately searching around for scmebody who
could write speeches for the new secretary, he thought about
me, I wa=z led into Robert Anderson's office one day and from
the beginning we were sympatico in a way that you wouldn't

helisve and——

LEYERZADPF: I imagine that's very important as a gpeechwriter—
g Fi P F

almost an 2lter ago--

WILLTAMZ: It waas. You have to be able te figure oculb what this
fellow's nature ia, the ways he expresses himself and what he
wankts te Ealk about. It was just natural that I could please
Mr. Anderson, which I did. He would call me into his oifice
and we'd just sit down and talk, for maybs thirty to forty-five
minutes, about what he wanted te talk about in these speachas.
At that point in his life he was deeply religiouws, and Jesus
got a lot more mention in hia speeches than Alfred Thayer Mahan
ever did. This used to gall my navy asscciates no end, because
they wondered what I was supposed to be doing. Buk anyhow,

the only one I had to please in the npavy at that poinkt was

Mr. Anderson. He took me on with him when he becamea Depuly
Secratary of Defensze, When he left theé government in 1955, I
dropped back and spent a year in the Chief of Haval Operaticna’

Strategle Plans Division. At that point Admiral Burka [the CHNO)
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bagan to look for a speechwriter, so I spenkt a year writing
speeches for him before I went gout to Pearl Harpbor for duky on
tha staff of the Commander-in-Chief Pacific--tche theatre command.
I was hardly oub there for more Ehan a: vear when I gob thia

very sudden, mystericus, totally unexpected call to come back

to Washington. The newa came bo me on a Saturday afrerncon

that T had to be in wWashington the follewing Monday morning=-

for what purpose, I had no idea. I get an @ plane, and it toox

a long while to get to Washington from Hawaii in these days, 2o

I didn't get bto Washington until Monday merning and reported

in to the Navy Department, The admiral I reported to said, "Well,
I don't know whakt the hell this i3 all abeout but yvou're Lo go
over to the White Housze and report bo Captain Aduvrand." Sc I

wenkt over to the White House and showad up in Pete Aurand's
affiece. Pete said, "Oh, yves. The president neesds z apeechwriter
and you're one of the cendidates." This was abouk 10:00 in the
morning, 29 I =at around and talked ta Pate for an hour and a

hali or so.
LEYERZAPF: Had vod mel Peate Auvrand Beiore this timg?

WILLIAMS: MNo, I hadn't. I'd heard of him by reputation but
I'd naver met him: I had met Hed Beach before, bubt nokbk Peke,
Finally, lunchtime came and Pete tcok me over to tha Weat Wing,
and as you go down——at least in the floor plan at that time--

as ‘you go down inte the basement te the mesai the stairway ran
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right in front of what we vsed to call the "fish room", which
wag sort of & holding tank for the president's wvigitors unkbill
they eould get into his office. At that point; there was a
meeting breaking uwp in there and one of the first psople out of
tha fish room was Reobert Anderson, who by then waa Secratary of
the Treasury. He looked over at me and said, "What a surprisze!
We were just talking about you last week." BSo that explained
everything. The president had completbe confidence in Anderson
and Anderacn, in turn, had complete confidence in me. sa when he
recommendad me Lo the president as a speechwriter, why:, I was
mogk of the way homa. After lunch Fete kEook me in and introduced
me to Sherman Adamz who had been, at that point, impesached but
not yet removed. Adams and I had a8 conversation and he finally

said, "Well, why don't vyou go out and talk to aaybody in town

that you want te talk to about this job, and if you need any
doora cpenad let me know and I'll geft them opened for vou. Now
be gone." So I left and I talked to a vhole bunch of people.
This was at the point where Arthur Larson was lesaving--he had been
the speechwriter before--and 1 talked to Larson, and I talked te
Bryce Harlow, and I talked to Gabe Haugde, and I talked to Anderson
himself. There was 2 bunch of people I talked with. I guesa all
thia toock place over the course of Monday and Tueasday. Tuesday
gfternoon I came back te Adama' pffice and I teld him that I had
geen all the pecple I neaded to see, and I yery much wanted the jeb.

He lonked at me very guietly and aaid, "Do vou know tha President?"



capt. Ralph Williams, &-3-88, Interview §l, Tape #1 Tage IO

" Adamz locked

I said; "wWell, I know him; but he doesan't know me.

at ma for another Ewa vears, it seemed like, 2nd said, "Well, I

axpack you'd bettér meet him. I'1ll sebt something up." This was

Tuegday afterncon. How, bto go back a lictle bit, all kinds of

things were going on that weekend, bscause between the time

that I left Hawail and the time that I arrived in Washington

the whole Middle East blew up. There was .a coup in Irag which

resulted in the murder of the king and the prime minister and

the accession to power of a radical new government. There was

alzso a grave threat to the stability of Lebanon--this was; Lo

put it exacktly. m tie %Sth; 1958. So there was this grave
e UL

threal Co bhe stabiliby of Che Lebangse government, and

President Chamoun urgently reguested help from Eisenhower.

Eisgnhower; in turn, ordered a batbtalion of marines landed in

Lebanon; and Khruschey began teo make noises about sheoting rockets

at us. So the tewn was pratty much in a tuvrmdil at that poink—-

everywhere e¢xcept the White House. You went into the White House

and there was this glacial calm; nobody was flustered, nobody

was upset. When they talked about anything it waas usually about

what they'd done over the weekend. You got the idea that thesn

people were there Lo take care of things and here was one more

damned problem that came with the tervitory and they were going

to gek it subdued somehow ot another--and they did.

LEXYERZADF: A lot of confidence.
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WILLIAMS: A 1ot of confidence. Buk you stepped ocut on the
street and the pecple were listening te their radios and reading
the headlines—-the extra editions of the papers were caming ouk
and the kids were hawking papers all over the street--and every-
bedy was running arcund ready to dive for the nearest culvert.
Se this is the miliew in which I met the president, but T didn'L
get in to see him until the folloving afterncen, which was
Wednesday. By that time the marines had landed, they wera
welcomed a3z liberators, President Chamoumn was restored to a
stable poaition--he was grateful for it--and Enruschev had
stopped making noisesz about shooting at us. So at that peint
the president was pretty pleased with himself, and 1 would say
it was about the mest amiable cenversation I ever nad with him.
Bz I say, he was feeling ne pain at that point so Pete tock me
over there and introduced me to him, and left. I must have been
there in the president's office for at leaat half: maybe three-
guarters, of an hour Jjust talking about all kinda of things,
just the two of us. Of course, he could be the most charming
man in the world when he wanted te be, and hq’ﬁ had a lobt of
expérience making tongue-tied strangers feel at ease in his
presence. We started cut just talking about little gtfi==1ighk
converzation. He asked me where I vwas from; and I told him I
wag from Texas, and he kind of brightened up becaunse he was born
there in Denison. He asked me where I'd aone to school, and

T told him at the University, and he said, "Well; your feotball
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team beat the hell out of a team kEhat I ccached at Bennlng one
time.® The conversation went on and on, and gradually ‘it
narrowed down to the job of speechwriting. We talked about
it and he asked ma if T thought I could do it. I =aid I was
parfectly confident that I could. He logked at me right straight
in the sye and said, "Mow leok, do veou think that taking thia

.
qob will in any way damage vour promotlon prespects or your carese?"
And, gosh, I almost lsughed out loud. But he was in dead earnest
about: it sa I =aid, no, I eeculdn't imagine kthat anylthing like
that would happen. I Said I did have some concern fof him
because here I was, a serving officer in the regular forcaes,
and I would hewrlibting spesches--and there would be at some point
some pelitical aspects to these speeches--and I didn't ¥now I )
exactly how I could legally handle that. He kind of snortbed
and said, "Hell, I'm nok politfcal; I could ba here as a Democrat
just as well as a Bepublican." 8o that dismisaed that subjeckt.
The interview went cn for a few more minutes and then it was
over. At that peint we agreed that I'd go back to Pearl to get
myY Suitcase packed and my Jjeb [inlshed up there. and I wWould
come back in about a month because this was the middle of the
aummer and Chesre wasn't a whole lok going on. S¢,; I'd Ccoms
back in a month and start the job-—which I Jdid. And T got

back about the middle of August and checked in.

LEYERZAZF: And yaou said Ehisz iIs about a2 monbth laterg?
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WILLITAMS: Yes.
LEYERZAPF: Abouk the middle of AugusL?

WILLIAMS: About the middle of August. At that pédint the president
was up in Mewporb with Pete. Andy Coodpaster, I guess; was the

one that got me checked abpard., He found an ocffice for me up

on th; gsacand deck of the west wing next te Bryode Hatrlow. I

was there for a weak to ten days, [ guess, more or lesg Just

doing odd joba for Andy becanse there really wasn't anything

gelse o do. Then I began te hear a few random remarka about

the obther speechwriter, and I began to make some inguiries.

There was this fellow--they thought his name was Mods==-and he

was from Johns Hopkins. He was over there in the east wing,

they thought.
LEYERZAPF: They weren't sure?

WILLIAMS: Thevy weren't sure! So I vwaited around a couple of

days to see what would happen, and nothing happened, nobody

z=ald anything more, nobody got Meos and me together. Finally,

[ went arcund teo sea him. Well, yes, hz was there, and he thought

he was the speechwriter!

LEYEREZAPF: Mot the best example of Eisenhowser's reputatlon for

organization.

WILLIAMS: Well, wyou know, this was a funny thing, too. I under-

gtand that in the earller years of the administration there was
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gome effort at organization--they had kind of a staff manual
and things like that., But when I got there things had gone en
for six years, and everybody knew everybody else, and they all
knew the drill, to put it in milltary parlance. How in the

service the first thing when you come inte a new Jjob is they

git you down; and they give you an erganization chart, and they

give you a directory cof all the peecple and a write-up of their
funetions, a&nd the standing cecders of the command, and you sit
there for two days and read that stuff, and you're pretby well

oriented ko what's going on. Well, there was nothing like that

at the White House in 1958. I couldn't discover an organization

chart or & directory anywhers. 1If you wanted to talk teo somebody

on the gtaff you just picked up the phone and asked the operator

to conneckt you with Me. se-and-so. If you wanted to zee him,
you had to find cut from him hew te get to his office because
there was no diagram that shewed you whe occcupied which office.
Finally, as I say, after stumbling arcund for 3 vesk or sa I
finally made contact with Mae. He had been there egarlier as
a oonsalrtant; and at some point they decided to bring him on
as a Full-time administpative adsistant, I believe. Tt turned
out; of course, that his sponsor was Milton Eisenhower. The
more I thought about it, the more it appeared to me that there
was going te be cne head speechwriter and one subotrdinate, and

it lmaked like the correlaticn of [orces wasn't in my favor

at the point. After a couple more days I went into Mac's ocffice
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and I gave him my pledge of allegianca. It was the smartest
thing I ever did, because it cleared the way for our relatbion-
ship--me and Mac. In retrospect, it could not have worked had

I been the cocnly speechwriter because, gosh, from there an out
for that whole fall season Eisenhower was making one campaign
spegch after ancther for Republican members of Congress. I
could never have written speeches like that. I think what
happened, possibly, was that I did sow a seed of doubt in the
president's mind at that interview I had with him when I raised
thiz guestion about political participation. At some Point it
must have occocured to him that maybe I was right, and that they'd
better get somebody that could do these things without actually
being in wviclatien of the law, which, of course; is the Hateh
Act that prohibits regular—serving employees, in uniform or put,
of the Federal government from engaging in peolitical activiby.
In other words, I'm sure that they wouldn't have spent that much
time on me and paid me that much attenticn 1f they hadn't at
that peint, in July, been considering me for the firat chair.
Bubk as it dawned on them later that I couldn't fit in bhat £irst
chair, they had ko find somebody eslae. So this is the way that

Mac Moos' and my arrangemenl stacted.
LEYERZAPF: So Moos would've Ccome on after: you?

WILLIAMS: Yes, he came on, apparently, during that month when
I was ouk at Pearl Harbor gestting kthingas wound up. He was in
place by the time I got back there in August. Az I say, this

was the long .atory that I said I ‘didn't want Lo burden my young
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friend por there in Dhie with--how the president came ocutb with
two full-time =peechwriters instead of just one. Always before,
there had only been one: Emmet Hughes, Kevin MeCann, Arthur
Larson, and then there had been a couple of othera in bebween.
But they'd only had one at a time. Mow all of = sudden, he

had two. I figured that the president must have decided that

T cauld still do something for him, because he never kept anybody
around Ehat didn't do a jeb for him. So that's the way it played
for the rest of my time there. Then a little lakter on, I guess
in the fall sometime, they brought Steve Hess on, first as a

%ind of conaultant. The next thing--I guess it was early 1959--
Srave came aboard as a special assisztant in the White Heouse or
something of that kind. I don'k know exactly what else Steve

did: I think that he had some other responsibilities, maybe

in connectian with the party as well as helping out on the Fﬁqu“ﬁ_
domestic-political aspects of the speechwrikting efifort. ™ _5
% b

LEYERZAFPE: I se=. BSo at that poinkt there were Chree--

WILLIAMS: Y¥es3, that's right.

[Taterruption]

LEYERZAPF: Had vou wanted to say anything further about the

speechwriting staff and the set-up?

WILLIAMS: Yes. Mac was one of the nicest guys I ever had anything

to do with. He was the ideal persen for that joo becauss I
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never saw him flustered, never saw him distraught or burdened
or anything of that nature. He always had a wonderful sense
of humor: a coamplete gentlemen. a little wisp of a guy=-=you'd
think that 2 good puff of wind would blow him away--nui he
sure had a lot of character and a lot of strength about

him. Generally, for the first couple of montns while wa

were still getting acquainted with each othet, 1 would send
him these big long memosz about what I thought that the speech
sffort cught teo cover—--which he accepted very graciously.
snfrer the first couple cr three months more: and meore of cur
interchange was just eoral; I'd drop in his office and we'd
3it down and talk, or he'd call me on the pheone: and we'd

go te lunch and talk thers. So I guit writing him memos
after the first couple of months. @Senseally, the way these
things would work--as far as I know, the president may have
occasionally passed on to Mac something that he wanted put

in his speeches-=-but for the mozt parkt, he wanted his
speeches to come up to him 28, to use the militacy definition,
"gompleted staff work": the whole thing laid oubk, tailcred
ko the auwdience with everything in thers thak should be

said te that audience, and to be said to the public, at

that particular time. He would lock at it and at ghis polnt
he would begin to think about it. But he needed the full
texk version to stimulate his éwn thought processes. The
more he would read, bthe more involved--and intensely involved--
he would get. He would get completely immersed in the

speech before it was over, and the thing would go anywhere
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from ten to fifteap drafbs——

LEYERZAPF: We're speaking of any speech;: it was just his ascyle?

WILLIAMS: That's.righkt. Hies style was bto come into Ehe =peech
after it had been all laid out. Then he would find =zome

things that he wonld throw cut and othar ideas that he would
think about; and he would acribble them inte the marginal nokes.
He'd call in Ano Whitman and he'd dictate mavbe two or three
pages of new material. And so., draft by draft, it literally
became his very 6wn zpeech frem the beginming to the end.

He would edib=-pnot only the textual and substantive material--
but he would fiddle with words, and two or three drafts later
the mame words vould be back in that he had thrown gut in

some draft before. I always2 thought thet things gob better

up until about the foewrth or fifth draft, and after that ik

wag gkraight Sownhill!

LEYERELRFF: Owverworked, perhaps, sometimes?

WILLTAMS: fThat'a right, overworked. These things would go--
oh; the major speeches would run anywhere from twelve to
fifteen drafta. These would ba the State of the Union types,
the major addresszea to MATO and thia kind of thing. Others

we could gek cut off in 8ix te eight--along in there gomewhere.
But it was always an endless iteration: back and farth, back

and Forkth, bacgk and ferkh.
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LEYEREAPF: Sometimea you were able ko cut down the numbers.

the numbers of drafta.
WILLIAMS: Oh yea, it would depend on—--
LEYERZAPF: Whabt wounld it take Lo do thag®

WILLIAMS: Well, as I =2aid, a lot of it jusk depended on Lhe
length and the importance of the spesech and how he evaluated
Ehe importance of the speech. The ones that he theught weren't
worth thak much effort, he would be satisfied with six eor =ight
drafts. Buk as I say, the blg ones would go anywhere from
twelve to fiftsen——I don't know how many drafbs the Farewell

sposch wenb.
LEYERZAPF: We have seven betwsen January 6kh and Januatry 1&th.

WILLIAME: ¥Yesz, I'm sare there must have béaen others earlier

CAREIT

rhan that that somehow or another get Iin the wrong bin ot Ef 3
& J=.

something, but-- '*h_ﬂﬁf

LEYERZADPF: HMWe don't hava bBhem.

WILLIAMS: =—--because we started work on that thing in early
Novembor, Bo there must have been sevaral drafta that jusk

never mades 1b.

LEYERZAPF: Do you have any ldea what it was abbut Eisenhower's
perscnality, his intellect, what it was about him that motivated

him to pore over, and work over: kthese speeches s¢ much?
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WILLIAMS: I don't know, veally, unless he just figured that

he waa speaking for the record whenever he did, and that he
wanted to be sure that what he said was what he fully intended
to zay, and how he understood the subject to be communicated.

I suppose that he suffered so much during the press conferences
from his extemporansens utterances that he wanted to make sure
anything in a formal prencuncement got his undivided attention—-

and it did.

LEYERZAPF: 1 see. So he wasn't the sort of publie szervank,
than, who=--gcbvicusly he wouldn't take a speech and read it
cold--and you mentioned something about hig wanting 1t to yeflect

what he baliecvwad.

WILLIAMS: Yes; anvithing that he said in the way of a formal
speech; you knaw that he knew what he was saying, and he fully
intendad to say it, and it was, in every ssass of the word,
his speéch at that time. Because he never said anything thak

He hadn't considered through many, many drafts of the speech.

LEYERZAPF: By the way, is it "Moga" as though it were a ol

or iz it Meose?
WILLIAMS: Moos. M= ==5
LEXERZAFF: TI've heard it both ways.

WILLIAMS: Just like the fellow with the big horns.
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LEYERZAPF: Thank you, that helps. Did he meet at times with
the president on these speeches wikthput you, or usually when

Cegether?

WILLIAMS: Mo, as a matter of fact, I only can recall two or
three times that I waa ever in the szame room with the president
at the time that we were working on a spesch. The president
dealt with principals; he didn't daal with Ehe second tier,

which was my level, except under exbracrdinary circumsatanceas.
Morecover, it's my impressicon thabt in many ¢ased, 1L nok most,

he did his bpsiness with Moocs by mail, eaven though HMoos: was

his primcipal speechuwriter. Hoos would send the draft over

and the president would mark it up an& send it back, and Moo=
would take the thing and redraft it thé way the president indicated
he wanted 1tk and send it back in and back it would come. TI'm
sure that at certain times rthe president would call him in

and they would sit down and possibly have a cenversation about

it or elucidate what it was the president wanted. But for the
mest part, khese things would float in and fleat back ouk again
without Moos ever having gone near the president's office.

But, &3 I say, this is just the way that I observed things

te work. T don't know what Mac had to say about his own personal
relatiorships with the president, but I gather that they didn't

gpend a whole leok of time together.

LEYERZADE: I den't have Ehe sense that it was a lot of the

time, alither. I was just interested in that. I gueas I was
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reflecting partly back on your role with Anderson; if an equiva-
lent socrt of thing had develcped with either you or Moos

with Biszenhower.

WILLIAMS: Well, anderscon, of course; had a lot mors kime Lo
devobke ko thinking about what He wanted ko talk absut than

the president. I have always thoughkt, too, that any president who
=at down and laboriously figured out what it was he wanted

to sapy In every damned speech thabt he made ocught Eo bhe impeached
for wasting the taxpayver's money becauae that's what you hire
other people to do for vou. This is what he did. Thess speeches
were somebhing that the president had to do, but for the mosk
parkt, they were not all that important because you found-—-

and this i3 one of the things that made wriking preaideantial
spesches so easy——-was that by the time that he had been in

office for 8ix years, all the policy positions were vary caraefully

laid out and vety well established. When you talked about

_,Q:'-.'T:E\
thesse subject areas you could eonly 3ay just about what you'd I =

said fifteen times before, Bo the art of the speechwriter
was to take all these 0ld round stones and try to make a slightly
different=looking lirtle atructure out of it =20 it would have

a litkle bit o2f interest to it. Buk for the mosk parl;, all

you were doing was going back and leoking over all these other
speechea for what the president said on bthe same subjeckt and
skimming off the same thoughts: 1f not the same words, and

cranking them intd the new speecnh. In Chis respect, 1kt was
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almoat impessible for the presideant bto ever say anything. new
becauza events Jidn't move bthat f£ast and things didn't hapoen
that would cause him to have Eo gay anvthing new. For the

most part, all you were deing was saying what he had said
before fifty times in Ehe last fiye or =ix years. Sa, a3 I
say, it made ik easy in a way because yeou didn't have Lo da

an awful let of original research because the data was all
there. It did make it tougn to try to dre=s it up a little

Bitk =20 it wouldn't bore everyboedy bo Jdeath——Cthe same old measage
that he'd bsen saying before. This ia, I'm sure, not peculisr
to Bisenhower's adninistrabion:; I think every administration
has the =same problem. ©Once you havae said all the new: thinga,
which you do in aboub kha first aix, or sight, or Len montha

of the administration, you haven't oot anything new to zay

to people unkil asemething #lse happens, some event Llanapires,
or some new policy evolwes. Then you can talk about that until
that'a beaten to deakbkh. Bo it's Just one desperats ssarch
after another bo £ind semething that might be of some conceiv-

able interest Lo pecple.

LE¥YEREAPF: I see, It'a vary interesting, it's one of those

things that maybe seems cbvious conce somecne starts talking

about it but I haven't heard this before. Is it fair to say,

then, that if you were drafting a speech--let's say to a Republican
group of some sort=--that you'd do that witheut additional

staffing; Bryce Harlow wouldn't be drawn in or somecns olse

on the staff with subject competence? You pretty much did
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it yourselves, you and Mac?

WILLIAMS: Yes, we would pretty much do it eurselvas. If we
got oo far away from what we felt safe with, wa'd show it

to whoever the ataff officer was who weould have the cogriizance
of that partiecular area. For the moak part, hovever, weé really

didn't need all that much halp.

LEYERZAFF: I sed: Vecy interesting on the apeechwriting process.
Let's turn to thé Farewell Address at this peint and 1if you
covld tell us mfomething about how tEhat was handled, kthe delegation

of functions between you and Moos, for example.

WILLTAMS: Well, that memorandum thakt I wrote on the 3lat of
Octaker had one bulletand one blank. &3 you recall. The one
that survived was=-=I think at that point I was refercing to

it az a "war-=based industrial complex™——

LEYERZADPF: Yes, I've read that.

WILLIAMS: =—-=which gradually evelved into "milikary". The

ather one; of course, was sorkt of a cry of dismay at all the
civil commotion that was just beginning. Lord, I didn't know
anvything about eivil commetion at that peint: buot T thaught

it was a viable ropic that cught te be addressed. But: it didn't
get anywhere and it dropped out very early in the procesdings.

I don't imagine it appsars in any of those drafts that you

have there.
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LEYERZAPF: HNo, I'm pretty sure that ik deesn'bl

WILLIANS: Mocs' way of deing this was just bp =it down and

talk about the content of these speschesz as we would formulatbe
them; and -if you had somekhing that you thought ought to go

in you made a piteh ta-him, and he'd think about it. If he
}ike& fe he would ask you te write up a full-text wversion of
it-~-9uat a menegraph, Jjust a pieca of the spesch, whatever

the topic was that you'd brought up. Then I'd puk in mine,

and I guess Steve Hess would do the zame thing and Mae would
take them and--he always called himself a carpenter--he would
tack these things together=--plus his own contepibutiens, whatever
ha theoeught =should go in. S0 Moos was the processor, and he

was the ocne whe proeduced the Jdraft that went up te the president.
Bt that point he asked me to work up something on the: so-galled
war=based industrial complex; which I 4id. A&nd, az I recall,
there wasn'E a2ll that mach change te ib frem BLaert to finish.

I sustomarily worked very cerefully on the Eirst draft in all

my weitings and usunally--in the case of Anderson, for axample,

I never had to do much more bhan a f2w word changes Lo that
Eivst draft—-so in this case there were some; pozasibly some
minor changes, but I think for the most part the president

eventually said just about what I had written in the beginning.

LEYERZAPF: That's whak I sae looking through theae drafts;
in fack, I xeroxed some of those portions and here and there

maybe changed a word er kwa, but there's very little of that.

WILLIAME: Well, I was lucky because notk many plecea got by
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without a let of scrutiny and changes.

LE¥YERZAPF: Changes of that nature, where he dsleted a word or twe
and added one or two-—that's the kind of thing abouk this file

Ehat shows up.
WILLIAMS: Yas.

LEYERZAPF: Then, given what you =aid aboub his going back to zguare
one sometimes, perhaps by the final reading he--I didn't check it

against the press release copy=--he might have put them back in, Loo.
WILLIAMZ: Yes, possibly, I don't——

LE¥YERZAPF: it would be guite a chore for any cesearcher to go through
alt of that: it was a chore for me to go through it and btry to sort

it ouk. In this October 31 memo from your papers at the Libracy

we find the phrase, "the war-based induatrial complex". Do you

recall who wasz respensible for that phrasing?

WILLIAMS: Well, tEhat was my ociginal thought off the top:of my
head. But as I got lnto writing the thing, it looked like what we
were really talking about was a military-industrial complex
rather than war—based. I think the "complex" part of it came--
vou know, you get ko the end of a aentence and you don'k know

how ta end ‘it up and this word comes to you and you wreite It

in and that's the way it fitz and that's the way it came but.

But I remember specifically very well the phrase, "the military
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industrial complex". It seemed te describe what it was I was

complaining about.

LEYERZAPF: 5o you, then, were responsible for that later shift

from "war-based" to aubstitubting "military"?

MILLIAMS: Xs==5,; thak'a eight.

LEYERZAPF: Thak'as been somsething thak hiskeeians have bean

interested in for a long time and had many guestions about.

WILLIAMS: As I explained to our young friend cut in Ohioc,
vou come out of these things and you sik down and you eall
your secretary in and you dictate off the tep of your head

k|
|

vl 5

; _-:".:-‘_;}
,
y

what it waa that you remembered zbeut Ehe meebing. Thia 1is F?
the way it came out fivakb, on Ottober 31. And then you looX e Tﬁ
at it and you think, gee whiz, T really didn't exactly mean

it that way and this "merchants &of death" reference is- a bunch

of stuff. BSo as I sit there in my solitude, facing my typewritsr,
some things get sgueezed out and other things come in and this

was the way that the "military-industrial complex” replaced

the "war-based industrial complex™.

LEYERZAPF: I sca. Mooz has commented in his interwview about--
you referred to his dustbin--he made commenta abeut that in
the interview and made a rather cryptic remark that he pickead

up Ehat habit fvem H.L. Hencken.

HILLIAMS: Yes.
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LEYERZAPF: Did he ever speak about his relaticnship with Mencken?

Was Mencken a mentor of his or something?

WILLIAMS: Yes, he was. I'm not guite sure wvhat their relation-
ship was except that Mencken, of course, was the major domo

of the Baltimora Sun for yearﬁ and years. I think at one point
in his lifa Mac warked as a reporter for the Baltimore Sun.

I thia% ke apnd Mencken had thair centack through Mac'a effortas
as a cub reporter, or whatever he was, and he was a protéga

of Mencken in that respect. Mencken apparently had a very

strong influence on Mac's life, and he zlways spoke very warmly

and respectfully of the old curmudgeaon,

LEYERZADF: That's fascinating. I was curicus aboub Chat.

You mentioned Steve Heizs. In leoking at the Parewell Address,
from what I've been able to read in Mooa'! interview and elasaswhere.
I can't find evidence that Hess was one of the parcicipants

in writing thak. Do you know whebther he was involved in Lkhat

o Not?

WILLIAMS: He may not have been. I can remember a few mestings
wvhere the three of us sat down together and talked about ik,
but for the most parkt Mac dealt separately with Hesz and me.

I don't know to what extent Hess contributed to the Skate of
the Union message. but he and Mac were very close: hes was,

in tuen, Mac's probtdgd. Mac was a political science prefessor
up in Johns Hepkins and Steve was one eof his prize students.

This was how Steve got inte the White House staff--through Mac.
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LEYERZAPF: All right; that helps round out the picture about

the speschwriting atatff.

WILLIAMS: 1In fack, fe and Steve wrote a number of thinga together

inclueding a bock called Hats in the Ring. I've got a copy

upstairs that I'll shaw you. They were, both of them, exceedingly
intereated in domestic politice and Republican politios. This

Hats in the Ring was a collaboration that they did--as a makter

of fact, they wrote it while they were both on the White Houss
staff. It desecribes the nominating processes of the ewo parties,
how you gobt thegs pechle on - the s5late for president and vice-
president. 5S¢ my guess is that Steve’s conbtribution, for the

most park, had to do wikth the political speeches that the president
made; he'd provide the input for that plus reinféreing anything

Mac had to do on his own in the way of domestie politiea. Far

the moat part., that was their field. They more or less gave

me a clear field in anything that had to do with national security

or military policy and that kind of thing.

LEYERZAPF: I gee. 3o theose segménbta of the speech, then,

that dealt with those issues were drafted by you?
WILLTAMS: Yes.

LEYERZAPF: Mooa also mentions that--as he recalled very early
on with the first draft or twe--when it first went by the president,
that the president pulled Milton in. Can yoo comment on that

At all?
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WILLIAMS: Ho, I gan't. If Moos sald that he did, I'm sure
that was true because; of course, the president and Milton
were vety cloze. I know that Milton occasienally would come
in and he would be in Moea' olffice talking, so 1'm surs that
Mileton had a very strong influence on many of the thinga that

the president said.

EYERZAPF: You didn't see drafts coming back, though, that
had Milton's hand-editing on it as though he waa getting involwved,

in a deftailed sense; in the spesch?

WILLI&MS: BHo, no, I did nok.

LEYERZAPF: I'm trying to define, to Tiqure out exactly what

Milton's role would've been. Maybe we can only surmize, but Ty,
if you eould help with that, we'd appreciate it. E;a ﬁ
K o

e i

WILLIAMS: With regards to this particular speech?

LEYERZAPF: With chis particular spesch. Meos just menbkions

his having--cr the president having-—shown it to Milton.

WILLIAMS: Yes,.as I sav, 1 ceally - don't knoow to what extent,

if any, Milten participated in the drafting of the speech.

820 far as the actuwal drafting is concerned, I'm saure it was

for the most part Moos'! effort: whether or not Miltan influenced

the president to have other things included, T just don't know.

LEYEREZAPF: I sea. I'm trying Eo get all the players sorted

out. This may seem overly meticulcus ko you, bukbt these gquestions
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have come up——

WILLIANS: Yes, 1'm sure they have.

LEVERZADPF: As much as we can weé would like te £ill in the rest.

WILLIAMS: Had Milten anything to say aboub this particular

aspeck of it?

LEYEREZAPF: The only reference I know of iz Lhe comment in
Moasz' interview about=-=I think I brought thakt part of it along,
1 didn't bring the entire intervisw. Have you ever soen this

intervisw befoka?
WILLIAMS: MNo, I haven't.
LEYERZAPF: That page may be where I picked Ehis up.

WILLIAMS: milton and the president sitting down begether and

working on the talk--this would be what you're wondering about?

LEYERZAPF: That's what I was wondering abouk. I guess 1 wWas
wondering whether it was just a matter of Milton approving the
hazic sense of the speech and the ideas that were in ik, ov

just how involved he got.

WILLIAMS: I cannot remember ever =eeing any editorial writing
or any inserts that Milton ever provided. My guesas is thatb

all he did; possibly=-=if he had any input to the speech--vas
just to talk te the president in geneval terms and the president

either 414 scmething abeut it or he didn't. But, as I say.
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I can't see Milton sitting down there with Mac Moos, cheek by
jowl at Moes' desk, writing in woxrds for the president's gpesch--

T den't think ha sperated that way.

LEYERZLPF: Y¥You mentioned In one of yeour lebtters Lo u=s Ehat
the military-industcial cemplex portien found a rather ready

and willing receiver in Eissnhower.
WILLEAMS: Yes.

LEYERZAPF: As theugh it didn't surprise you, perhapa, that
he would've left that alone and left that in, pretty much as

it was. Could you comment on this idea?

WILLTAMS: ¥Yes, I can. Throughout his entira administration
wigenhawer suffered the slings and arrows of people who wanted
more money for defenze, and mora alrplanes=--malinly more aicplanes
wppause the air foree had only Been in existence aboub ten
years and they came out of the army with a bee in their boonet.
They were going te conguer the whole world, T supgose. IE

had the energy of a nev crqanizatlmn, with a nev mission, and
nothing was going te stop the U.5. Alr Force. They'd had good
tutelage there because the felleow who had brovght the arcmy

air forces up to the peint where it became the U.S. Alr Force
was an absolube master at publicity and public relationa.

This was geod old Hap Arnsld. I guess he's one of the greab
unsung heroes of the thing—-he never got the credit that I'd

thought he'd always deserved for his centribution to the
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independent air force of the United States. But anyhow, the

aitr force, Unitked States Alr Porce,; just considered themselves

to be the only reason that the United States was still fres

in the menacing world of communism. They had a tremendous network
of help among the serozpace suppllers. and the eongressional
pecple who benefitted--whose diatricts benéfitted--from these
contracts. They cultivated the newspapers. and worked khe media
for all it was worth, and politicians. 2o they had this great
complex, if you will, to support the programs thab the United
States Air Force thought it needed. Meanwhile, Eisenhower had
came in, in 1253, and one of the first jeba thak he had was=s

ko get the armed forces back down to a reasonable size from their
peak of the Korean War. So he presided over the demebilizatien

of at least a millicon msn--I think the force level went Eram

about three and a half million men down Eo two and a half million;,
and the major weabons programs were cubt back proportionately

eyen more. Moreover, these cutbacks were procs=eding at a time
when much of the public wasa caught up in the Reds-Under-the-Bed
hysteria of the MeCarthy era, and when both the U.5. and kthe
Soviet Union acquired the hydrogen bomb. And the president

made his own contribution ke his kroubles by an slmogt obsessive
concarn in his publie remarks with the need for fiscal restraint
and balancing the budget. 5o the Democrats figured they had a
live one: here was a miserly prezidenkt pinching pennies at the
expense of tha nation's security, and wasn't it just awful, folks?

tnd, with the appropiate coaching from the Adr Force and its
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supperting industries this angst eventually came to focus on

a yawning "gap!” that was suppossed to exist betwesen the lang

range bomber capabilities of the U.5. and thne Soviet Union,

and this terrible "bomber gap" became one of the Democratice
campaign themes in 1956, There wasn't an iota of truth in it,

of course, but it was about all they had t& run with, since no
Americans weare getting shot up 1n wars anywhetre, the country’ was
booming along with almost no inflation, and they were up against
ona of the mozt popular presidents we ever had. In the end, thay
didn't get anywhere, but I can't help but think that it mdst have
rankled the president considerably. He was 3 Type A personality
and he didn't suffer criticiam gladly from anybody, especially from

foola.,
LEYERZAPF: EBiszepnhower's frustrations with theze criticisms—-

WILLIAMS: 8o then, of coursae, the electiopn was beld in '56 and he
was resgundingly re-eleckted by a huge majority and things Xind

of gettled down except that there was seklll this undertone of.
"Why aren't you buying more missiles, why aren't you deing this,
that and the other thing?" Then the campaign of 1260 came on.
Eisenhower was not running, but Nixon was esssntially running

on his recoxd, and it started all over again, only this time,
instead of being a bomber gap, 1b was a missile gap. I guess at
that point there was Kennedy, Jcehnson, Symingten, and possibly
Humphtey, I think--four centenders for the Demperatbtic nomination.

all four of them, particularly Symington and Jochnson, played up
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this Eerrible missile gap, that Fisenhawer had just let the United
ckates missile sifort go te pisces. of course, at this poinkt, you
must remember, it sounded like they had a geood case bacauss Lhe
saviets had Sputnik up in 1957, fcllowsd by several other heavy
pay-load launchea. They even hit the moon with a recket in 1953
apd we st£i1l hadn't gotten much of anything up there Lo apeak of.
The conclusion was. that since ve couldn't put anything into orhit, |
why, we were defenseless as far as missilea were concernad because
it takeas reckets to make them go, Loo. S0 all threught the spring,
summet and fall of 1960 there wWas thizs drumfire of criticlam

of Eisenhower's raputatien on the missile gap. ©Of coursae, thera
wasn't any truth te that, aither, and when the Demsoorata came

in the fellewing January and Chey looked around and realized

‘.:":Fﬁ?

4 L !

that they were now going to De responaible for the defenses of & }}
iz, fj
N I

chag United States, why, all of a sudden the missile gap just - o
dissappesred. And McHamara admitted it. Thers was no missile

gap; as you may recall. I'm sure, again, thak since Elsenhower—-

it was his administration that was being strung-up by the lynch
mob--that this must've gone down With him just aboit the way

that the bember gap did just four years befors. Of course. on

my own part, T had simitar feelings and I'm sura thal when EBisenhawar
saw Ehat all laid out there, why. he musk'we thought,--"Boy!l

¢hak's what I want to Sayl” And apparently it waa what he wanted to

say bacause he made =0 few changes to it

LEVEREAPF: As you said, wvirtwally nene, nane of importance,
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nane aof substance.
WILLIAME: Right.

LEYEREAPF: And, of course, the wording in that does refer ko Lhe
Neombination"--yes, "we must never lesb the wetaht of this combinatien'-—and
it's referring there to what elements, in the uas oif the word
Teombination"? 1 guess it's just another word for the "complax"?

Wall, I can give it to you-—one grafk.

WILLIAMS: You mean the "we must guard against the acquisition
of unwarranted influence by the military indusErial complex?”
I balieve that the final version was--1 can remembar——"unwWwarranted

influence, either spught or unszought.”

LEYERZAPF: Yes, that'a true. It does raad thak way. Here's the

final veraion.

WILLIAMS: Yas, that's right. And it was just, -as I say, I think
his =ense of fair play had been cutraged by the libertias that
these Democrakbic politicians had taken and he just wanked Lo set
the record straight. I do think that he could alsc envision the
posaibility of this thing getting out of control and inducing the
government to do soma very dumb and dangaraus things at the beheat
of these people who had ao much influence. Gozh, Lhey had hundreda
of billions of dollars worth of spending power, and they blanketed
the antire country so that yeu got congressmen from all over the
country beholden to them. labor vetes, local politicians, satellite
industries-—all o¢f whom have money and vobing power. I can imagine

that he figured that if the thing ever. got unbalanced--and this
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is, of course; the thing that he had to bear in wind: that it's

not just the military-industrial complex that could run away with
government palicy: other things could, too, unless the government

iz protected by the checks and balances of lts constitutien and

the natural pluralism of the pecple who can be Erusted to be =zensible
enough not ko be swept away by any of the propaganda of a fear

campaign or that kingd of thing.

LEYEREAPF: "Balance" zaemed to be an important word teo himg I
believe that the'milirary—industrial complex porfion iz prefaced

by a paragraph on balance.

WILLIAMES: Yes; 1t im. He went ko some length bocexplain thak

inn the text of the speech, and then later on in his book, Waging
Feace, he expanded on that. This was certainly in keeping with
hia philosophy, becaunse he did deeply bDelieva that this country
wvad capable of doing anything it wanted to do prowvided it could
weigh the differences and £ind the right combinatien, which would

Ee the balance.

LEYERZAFF: S0 it's consistenkt with hi= overall philosophy?

WILLIAMS: Right.

LEYERZAPF: HReally consistent, which prebably doea explain why
it went virtuzlly unchanged. FPhilesophically, ha'd have Eelt
comfortable, as you see it, <with this sert of thing? I&'s followed

by that zectien warning against a scienkifle-technolegical elite,
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or a combination or some kind that could be a problem--now; you

drafted that section?

WILLIAMS: Yes, and I don't knowab what point that got iaktp the

spesch. Does it appear in these drafts bhat you have?

LEYERZAPF: Yesg, it is in these drafta, so it apparently got in

bafore the first of the year. !

WILLIAMS: It got in before, and probably as a subkatitute for the
thing that didn't fly about the breakdown of orderly societies.

TE's kind of a subset of the military-industrial complex, Loo,
because Tor the most part theése very ceémplicated and sizeable
scientifie and technological establishments were born out of the
military research and development of World War II. TIn that respect,

they're part and parcel of the military; they're the sodentific ﬂfﬁﬂﬁﬁ
o

L e

element of the military=-industrial complex. And scientists are E
%

Y

corruptible; too. There's a great art of grantesmanship that the
scientific community--or at least certain individuoal selentists—-
engage in, whersby they make certain findings and a lok of times
they don't even beother to have a peer review; they go immediately
to the newspapers with their findinga and thev get everybody all
upsek, Thia is particularly true, I think, in the environmental
part of the scientific community. I can well remember, at the
crast of the environmentalizt wave, where scme profesasor doWwn in
Texas came forth with a-—he was just sure thalbt Wwe were goling Lo
burn up all of the oxygen in the atmosphere and all suffocake

because of the lack of oxygen. Well, of course, this is ridiculous,
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and you do have peocple who are willing to prozgtitute their professicn
because it gets them money. It all gaks back to the well-established
principle that the way to get people to act en something ias Lo

zpare. them to death. This is ona of the games, the gambibts, that
the military--and particularly the Alr Force--hawe been known to
engage in. 1It's a sad fack, but it's true, that at budget time,
why, your worst enemy becomes your best friend ahd your erstwhile
comrades-in—-arms become your opponents and yeour rivals. 1

couldn't even begin to guess how many billions of ddllars that
NMikita Khruschev got for the U.5. armed forces by all the tabla-
sounding and thundering around that he did. In the Pentagon we

vsed to go up to Congress with these appropriations bills, Jjust
‘praying that the Russgians would do something to scare us so that

the Congress would loosen up and grant the appropriaticon. A case

in point, was--tEhis would be in 1958 or '57, in that time frams,

I forget exactly when it wea, it could be pinpointed down--the

navy had a money bill before Congress and it waa just on the razor's
adge between failure and success. And the point at fssue was about
ajﬁﬁﬁﬂfllimn dollars, or something thereabsoubts, for a cacrier, an
aircraft carrier. At that peint; XKhruschev.game to pay his respects
ko the Unitad ®Warions. You may remember this, a very celebrated
scens where he get up and he ranted and he raved and he book oIf

his shoe and he pounded on his desk with the shoe and the navy's
bill paszed that afternceon by a resounding vote. I always thought
that they really ought te have named the carrier the "Nikita 3.

Yhrouzehey" instead of Ehe "Consbellabtion" or whatewer 1€ was Lhat
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they really did name it, because we nevar would'wve gotten it if
it hadn't been for him. #Well, now, you sed, the Bussians have
iearned somebhing about that and they don't give s all that geod

SUpport anymore.

LEYEEZAPF: Interesting. That was no mere colncidence, then?-—-the

shoe=pounding incident and the appropriationa bill?

WILLIAMS: Right. He got us a billion-dollar carrier ocut of bthat

just as: sure as the world.

LEYERZAPF: Was there anything further that vou wanted Lo say

about the Farawell Address, given your Tele in it?

WILLIAMS: Mo, I can't think of anything, sXcept Eo smphasize again
that it's the preaident's speech; he s3aid it, and he understood

it, and he meant it, and he is the author and nobady =lse haz any
claim to Ehe authorship . of thak speesech becauss, as you can see.,

he waa not a man te let anybkody put words in his meuth. If he

said thozse words, he meant them.

LEYERZAPF: OK, I'd like fo go back just a little and £il11 in
a few areas., I rwad through vour papees laabt fall at the Libragy:
and a couple of guestions about your role struck me. I did want
te asXx you if your formal appeintment to Aurand's office waa just
that, or did you have any dubtles apart from aspeschwriting? Did

you work with Pete ak all?

WILLIAMS: Yea, I did, as a matter of fack. This was another very

satisfactory arrangement. I was detailed te Pete, and according
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to the wiring diagram (if there had been one) Pete was my only
boss: it went from me ko Pete and from Pete Lo the President.

The dotted line, of course, was vreally the meaningful omne; it went
from me over to Mac Moos. My primary dubty, whiech everyone understocd,
was ta assist Mac in the drafting of speeches, and I could help
Fete With whaktewer apare time that I had available to give him.
From time to time he would have me do little monographs, very simple
things that he liked to have some particulars on. I think I did
something on the Messerachmidt 262 one time, and, oh, critigue
certain papers that he would have been interested in. T thinx
mainly it might have been just for his own curiosity; it wasn't
any official work that he had Iin mind. I even made a trip out

to Abilene for Pete when the museum was getting started and the
purposa of my visit out there was to see what centributions the
naval aide'a office could make to the museum exhibivs. And this
sort of thing, kind of in the catagory of odd jobs. But when Pete
would be out of town--which was a good part af the time that last
year, when Eisenhower was doing =o much traveling--Pete would go
in advance and =set up the logistica of the trip. Whenever Pate
wazs out of kown I'd move over into his office and 1I'd be the naval
aida. But still, as I say, my primary duty was firvst, laskt, and

always with Mac Mooa.

LEYEREAPE: You mentlonsd the monographa you wrote. I xnow I
came acroas a rather lengthy critigue of a Kissinger article--

perhaps cut of Foreign Affairs., I'm nekt sure. And I was curiocus

as to who asked you to do ik.



Capt. Ralph Williams, 6-3~B8, Interview (1. Tape #l Page 42

WILLIAMS: I think that this was another reguest that Pete made

of me. I don't know whather the memgorandum even specifies-——memo-
randum te Captain Aurand, or what--but I'm almest sure that I did
that for him, unless I did it fer Mac——I don't know. Bub ik didn't
go any further than those two; I was not hired to do think piecesa

excepk on reguest from Pete and Mac.

LE¥ERZAPF: I see. I'd found it very interesting, and wanted

te ask that guestion because you went at it in some detail. I
picked something else up in one of your letters writften bo us--
to, this would've been in your papera=-that suggested thabk akb scme
poinkt=-at least the idea was floated threugh the White House or

te whomever--that certain N5C policy papers be written up as white

papses’?
WILLIAME: YES .
LEYERZAPF: Do you recall that ingident?

WILLIAMS: Yeas, that was sort of an esarly abort: but it neéver really
did have any suppeort, I den't think, from the tep pecple in Lkhe
staff. I think the impetus came from Gerard Smith, who at Ehat
paint was kind of in the middie ranks of the State Department
personnel. This, agein; was an effort ko extricats the president
from his precccupation with the budget and ko prove to the people

of the country that the United States really wasn't in danger by
publishing a white paper that would lay out the trus facts of tne
balance of power bebween the United EStates and Russia =sa Cthat psaple

cauld see this and dismiss all the Demecralbie prepaganda fer what
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it really was. The intentions were wonderful but the execution
was just impossible. The basic policy paper that we went through
from, I gueas, the Truman Doctrine--or at least it evolved out

of the Truman Doctrine--was Ns3C 68 and this was the containment
poliey. Along with that was added the Dulles Doctrine of so-called
"masgive retaliatfon™. 1 think his exact words were, "Retalfiate
massively at times and places of dur own choeosing," which we could
certainly do at that point because we had a yirtual monopoly on
atemic weapens: The idea was to scoop up these and cther ba=le
national security policy papers and massage bhem into somebhing
that would be so sufficiently sanibtized that you would not be
compromising security, and yet would give the peopls a factual
basis for making their own decisicn as to: whether or nat: the

United States was in jeopardy. But the problem was that everyihing
that you could possibly say opaenly had already been said. IT you
really got into the meat of these papers, then you were talking
about orders of battls, and sources of intelligence, and eneny
tntentions, and the most highly sensitive kind of informaticn--

and you just couldn't do that. Se =211 you had--when yow had wWrung
all of the good stuff ocut--a1l you had left was what we'd been
saying publicly all aleng. T don't know how many tries I madsa

at that thing and, of course, it always failed on the security
aspect. The intelligence community was juat petrified that we
wauld give scomething away—--and I didn't give anylthing away--and

a3 a resulk; there was nothing Eo shew. I could nevey produce
anything that Gordon Gray was happy with. I think that the reazon--

Fhe moskt that he would aver: bEell me abouk It=-was bthat, I think
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hiz words were; he was not comfortable with it. I think Ehat.
basically: he wasn't comfortable with the whole idea in the first
slace, which made it easy for him to be uncomfortable with that
particular project. So it finally just withered away and died.
and that was the end of Ehat. But ir started out as an effort

ta rebut the Democratic conkentiong that Eisenhower was neglecting
national security; but you just couldn't get to the post office

frem there.

LEYEREAFF: It's a very inkteresting story, nenstheless. Do I undar-
stand, then, that you did go se far as Lto prepare drafts and they

were ocirculated——
WILLEIAMS oh yes3:

LEYEREAPF: Did they go as far as to the CIA or only as far aa ﬁ¢T“Q$

the WSC staff? IH ;_]
-

WILLIAMS: I think the only person that I aver sSent Chem Lo wasg

Socrdon Gray, and he was never that much in faver of it te begin

with.

LEYERZAPF: Tha idea originated with Gerard Smith?
WILLTAMS: I think 1t was Gerard Smith'a idea.
LEYERZAPF: Which worked it'asa way through whom to you?

WILLIAMS: I don't know whether Smith himself contdcted Mooz or
vhather he got one of his bosses to talk te Mac: but anyhow: Mag
toak ik on az the kindg of thing that we would help oubk with if

Wwe could.
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LEYERZAPF: But from the 2tate Department, as Lt wexe?
WILLIAMS: FRight.

LEYERZAPF: The initiative lay there. A very interssting story--
aven though it didn't come off--the fact of the effort being made.
Like anyone else at the Library I've not road every page of twenty
million pages, but'I can't say Lt doesn't exist on paper scme place.

put it is the first I've heard of the whikte paper concepkt.

WILLIAMS: Well, probably the reason you didn't hear about it was

because it never got anywhere anyhow.

LEYERZAPE: I might just ask you, since wa've talked at length

bath about the Farewell Address and the apeechwribting proceas:

are thers any othsr major speeches that you recall working on that
maybe were particularly difficult or regquired additional staffing—

anything memorable about any other major speechas?

WILLIAMS: The only other memorable effort, of course; was tha
Percy episcde, but I don't know of any other: the reat of them

are just more or lesa cut-and-dried speeches that came off success-
fully so that we didn't have any spills ox cataatrophes. This ia
the happiest that you can be as a speechwriter, to get your boss
out and let him make a speech and gat back to hia office wikthout
finding a note on his phone pad o call his boss. 1'd gatruck ouk
an that a couple of times: too, for other people. I was working
for Rogers Morton when he was Secretary of the Interier: .and the

speech was addressing the balance between environmentalism and
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devalopment. Rogers Morton, being secretary of the interier, was
right in the middle of 1it. I can remember we'd write thess speeches
gut and the full text versicn would be released to the media. I

can remember so well this peroration that he ended the thing with,
which I wrete in my inimitable style, and the final declaratory
sentence was the the United States does not have to choose between
environmental degradation and economic development: Ehis admini-
stration is determined that it can and will have both!l ©f course,

he never szid it: I don't think he ever used anything I ever wrote faor
him. But by that time six hundred copies had all gone out to the
madia; and gosh, this crazy sentence said exactly the cpposite of whal
I had intended to say. I got & terrible ribbing from all my friends
and asggciates in the media; they'd call me up and say, "Hey, what's
this about you're gaing to have both environmental degradation and
economic development——ian't thakt an interesting feat?" They wers

very nice about it--nobody could hate Rogers Morteon, anyhow--and nobody
hated me, so I got away with it. But this 4s the kind of thing that
can happen, and our great success, of course, was in not having the
prasident say anything like Ronald Reagan did about the Indians last

wask.
LEYERZAPF: I gueszs I missed thak one.

WILLIAMS: Oh, yvou miszszed that one, too? Well, somebody got him to
talking about the American Indians, and then he went on at great length
about all these sil-rich Indians and that we shouldn't have given them

all of this Eine reservaticn land. I think he said every wrong thing

he could pessibly hawve said about the Indian guestion. And he'll be
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digging his way out of that for thae next six months and fov the rest
of his administration, I'm sure. But anyhow, this: iz the great hazard
speschwriters hawve, hawving your boss say the wrong thing., 1It's much
more important hot to say the wrong thing than bto just say the vight
thing. There have besen more deathless phrases that lived to haunt

EHely awuthors than a 1ittls bit.

i
LEYERZADF: So you were in a speechwriting capacity, then, for

offlciala after ‘'sixty-one? You had other Jjobs of that nature?

WILLIAMS: ¥as, I first went back out to Pearl Harber, and I had a
gtrict; stralcght navy =upply job feor three and a4 half years. 1 came
back in 1964, and I zZetired at that peoink, and using my anly knoun
digcernihle talent I went to work in the Interior Depariment, malnly
as a writer: I wrote for the assistant secretary of the interice feor

ayhile,; and when he lefk I want on up=-

LEYERZAPF: Which adminiskration would this have bean?

WILLIAMS: This would've been Nixon's administration. T was down

in the bowels of the crganication until the pext administration came

in, and the same thing happened at that point that had happened in the
zisonhower Administraticn: they began to look sround for apeech-

writers for the new appointees, and they found me. I got the job working
for a gentlemen by the name of Hollis Dole, whose picture is right up

there above tha admiral. He was ancther wondesrful person. He was assistant
sgcratary of the interior for minerals and resources. He: died last year
suddsnly of a heart attack, and I lost a very good friend. After he

left the goveérnment, 1 went td werk for Rogsrs Morton and I think
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I wrote twenty speeches for Merten and I don't think he used
a single one of them. So at that point I hied myself off to
the U.3. Geological SurveEy ocut in Reston;, Virginia, and I spent

the rest of my government time ocub thera.
LEYERZEAPF: End whakbk kind of work 3id you da?
WILLIAMS: Generally, writing speeches for the directar.

WILLIAMS: I see. And this all came about because of your experience

and kbalenkts that sort el suriaced abt bhe Haval War Cocllega?
WILLIAMS: At the Waval War College: right:

LEYERZAPF: A5 I reocall, on veur wikta, you have a bachelor's

in kbusinesg administratian?

WILLIAMS: ¥Yes,; I suspeck that most people never do what Chey

gek educaked for, and I was no gxception. Well, of course, my
bachelor's in business administration was my Licket to the 'Naval
Svpply Corps. For a number of jobs within the navy I did practice
my profeasion in that regard. Hut about half the ftime I was
tokally ouk of my sducaticnal environment, working just as .a

writer of various and aundry descriptions.
LEYERZAFF: Have you ever engaged it any frec-lance weiting?

WILLIAMS: Mo, nobk really. It didn't pay nearly as well as writing

for kthe governmenb.
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LEYERZAPF: I was referring just to meonlighting, just as Moos

and Hess did.

WILLIAMS: HNo, I'm lazy and I don't do any more work than I absolutely

have to. I didn't have to vwork, =so I didn't.

LEYERZAPF: I see. Weéll, I have no further guestiens. I8 there

anything else that you wanted to add?

WiLLTAMS: Well no, not that I kXnow of. Thia might bs a good

place to conclode things.
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